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The resort hotel complex at Sweet Chalybeate Springs dates from the
1850's and is typical of Virginia spa architecture having a main building,
guest ranges, and cottages all fronted with two level galleries. Set on
Sweet Springs Creek below Peters Mountain with the Alleghanys forming a
backdrop, Sweet Chalybeate retains the outlines of its former par At one
end of a thousand foot lawn are the springs flowing undisturbed from the
bottom of a small rock biluff. WNearby to the north are the bathing pools
with the adjacent foundations of the original bath houses, and the present
modern bath house. The long lawn, once dotted with rows of magnificent treeg
is now a pasture stretching from the springs at the south to the main
building at the north end; the ranges are to the west of the lawn, the state
highway to the east. ''Bachelors' Row" sits across the highway from the main|
building.

The main building is a gable roof, weatherboarded, frame structure
twelve bays long and two bays wide. The gable end fronts east on State Route
311, and the long side looks south over the lawn to the springs. On the
south, east and north double-tiered galleries rise on brick piers above the
brick English basement. The galleries have slender Greek Doric columns and
a delicate Chinese balustrade., Doors and windows are surrounded by a simple
molded trim. Wooden double hung windows have nine-over-six sash. A breeze
way occupies the seventh bay of the building; the single-run open string
stair ascends in the breezeway.

In the basement the original bar-room occupies the east end of the
building, and on the first floor the reading room occupies the east fourth
of the structure. The remaining area is divided into individual sleeping
rooms. The reading room features two simple mantels with plain shelves,
friezes and pilasters, and a fine curvilinear grill over the reception desk.
The room has been used in recent years as a country store, The individual
sleeping rooms in this building all have fireplaces with typical Greek mantel
with plain pilasters, pentagonal friezes and plain shelves. Just north of
the main building stands a many gabled summer house, supported by slender

posts.

_ The north range of sleeping rooms originally stretched south from a
western wing of the main building. This wing has now disappeared as have
"the northern-most bays. The six most northerly bays of the existing range
are badly deteriorated, but retain the characteristic double-tiered gallery
supported by rectangularly paneled piers. A breezeway with a stair is
located near the center cof this building. The remaining portion of the
single~pile building is vitilized as a multiple family dwelling. The double-
tiered gallery is present, supported by paneled piers on the first level and
posts with a simple balustrade featuring rectangular balusters on the second
level. Doors and windows have a plain architrave trim. The windows have siz-
over-six sash. Breezeways with single run stairs provide access to the uppex

floor.

The north range is separated from the south range by two square, frame,
weatherboarded cottages with pyramidal roofs. The northern cottage has a
central quatrefoil "Gothic" chimney, but the original chimney on the southerrs

on the south, east and north by galleries supported by slender Greek Doric
columns.

w
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cottage has been replaced by a square brick stack. The cottages are surrounded

The south range is a gable roofed single- Dlle frame, weatherboarded
structure. Th 1 -t lered g_aller—xz is Suwed DV S!gnder Greek. !br]c ]
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columns. Windows and doors are surrounded by architrave trim. Transoms are
above the doors, and the windows have six-over-six sash.

At the location of the springs and bathing pools, there are several
buildings. Immediately west of the pools is a modern board-and-batten bath
house reconstructed from earlier materials. To the west on the rise above the
pools is a board-and-batten gable roofed building with brick ends which have
been extensively repointed. Just west of this building is a log cabin. Both
of these structures probably originally served as servants quarters. The
original circular bandstand with a dome roof which stood on the knoll near the
main building has been moved in recent years to stand on the rise south of the
pools.

: The range known as ""Bachelors' Row', which was removed from the main

section of the resort due to the sometimes rowdy good spirits of the bachelors
is on the hill across the highway east of the main building. A one-story, ellj
shaped building, this range alsoc exhibits the gallery which is the distinguishs
feature of all the Sweet Chalybeate buildings.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Sweet Chalybeate Springs is & relic of the nineteenth-century days
when the fashionable world of North and South came to the springs of Virginia
to '"take the waters and play the marriage market' as well as to escape the
torpid heat of the lowlands. A remarkable number of the wooden pavilions
and cottages remain at Sweet Chalybeate to attest to the relative size and
popularity of the resort and to give an unusually undisturbed picture of a
nineteenth century Virginia spa. The springs, themselves, continue to flow
freely from the limestone bluff and form pools among the foundation of the
original bath houses.

Although the springs were probably known and used by settlers in the
eighteenth century, Sweet Chalybeate did not begin as a commercially operatad
resort until 1836 when Philip Rogers and others incorporated the Red Spring|
Company. Called the Red Sweet by the nineteenth century springs-goers, these
springs quickly began to receive the overflow from the nearby White Sulphur
Springs and Sweet Springs, and became popular.

About 1845 the property was acquired by John R. Sampson who made
improvements over the next several years. In 1850 Mr. C. Bias purchased the
Red Sweet for 40,000 dollars and transformed the establishment into one of
the more fashionable spas. One of the guests described the change, "every-
thing is fresh and new aad cozy; a neat white frame hotel, and tasteful -
cottages {sic)'". Another visitor called the Red Sweet ''much the sweetest
and most agreeable place." Among the attractiors provided by Mr. Bias were
separate pools for ladies and gentlemen supplied with over a million gallons
of chalybeate water a day, a particularly fine dining room and a reading
room with newspapers ~- the only one of its kind in the mountains. The
waters remained the chief attraction, however. They were considered the
strongest carbonated mineral water in America and a certain cure for
sterility. Although the Red Sweet never became as popular as the White
Sulphur or the Rockbridge Alum, it was one of the preferred stops of the
South Carolinians.

By the turn of the century, the Red Sweet was commonly called the
Sweet Chalybeate Springs though it occasionally had been known as Sweet
Chalybeate during the nineteenth century. The heyday of all the springs was
ending, however, and the Sweet Chalybeate suffered decline and finally
closed its doors in 1918. Since then, the tract has had multiple owners.
Some of the porticoed rows and cottages have served as residences and for
many years the main building housed a country store., Today the pools are
sometimes open for swimming, and the springs are available to local residengs
who still "take the waters.'
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